Hagy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALT DISNEY WORLD CO. and INSURANCE COMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA,

Petitioners/Defendants,

vs.

CASE NO.

SID J. WHITE

ALOYSIA WOOD and DANIEL S. WOOD,

Respondents/Plaintiffs.

MAY 22 1933

By Chief Layley Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS
BY PETITIONERS/DEFENDANTS, WALT
DISNEY WORLD CO. AND INSURANCE
COMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA

ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED
QUESTION FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT
COURT OF APPEAL

John L. O'Donnell, Jr. Thomas B. DeWolf, and John H. Ward, of DeWOLF, WARD & MORRIS, P.A. 1475 Hartford Building 200 East Robinson Street Orlando, Florida 32801 (305) 841-7000

and

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In November, 1971, Aloysia Wood was on the Grand Prix attraction at Walt Disney World when her vehicle was struck in the rear by one negligently operated by her fiance, Daniel Wood [R: 146; 157; 166].

In the Third Amended Complaint, Aloysia Wood sought \$1.5 million [R: 43] from Disney and INA for damages allegedly caused by negligence on the part of Disney [R: 145-156]. Daniel Wood sought recovery against Disney and INA for a derivative claim, although he and Aloysia Wood were not married at the time of the Disney incident [R: 154-155]. This claim was not abandoned until the start of the second trial [R: 165-166].

Disney and INA counterclaimed against Daniel Wood for contribution, alleging that negligent operation of his vehicle contributed to Mrs. Wood's injuries [R. 157-160].

The first trial of this case resulted in a jury verdict that Walt Disney World Co. was not at fault, which was reversed on appeal. Wood v. Walt Disney World Co., 396 So.2d 769 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), rev. den., 407 So.2d 1106 (Fla. 1981).

The case was then tried to a jury a second time before the Honorable Otis Farrington, who had presided at the first trial.

The jury began deliberations at 3:10 p.m. on September 12, 1984, and returned with their first question at 3:17,

asking to have the definition of negligence re-read [R: 103-104]. At 4:00 p.m. the jurors announced that they could not reach a verdict [R: 106-107], but changed their minds and asked for an adding machine [R: 107]. At 5:20 the jury announced they were unable to decide on percentages [R: 108]. The jurors said they had tried to compromise, but that discussion of other questions had divided them again [R: 108]. They indicated they could not reach a verdict [R: 109].

The trial judge instructed the jury to continue their deliberations [R: 109-110].

At 5:27 the jury had another question. This time, they were concerned with whether the amount they set as damages could be changed [R: 113]. One juror asked:

The amount that we put down there, right, is determined by the percentage that is further up, right? Now, can you change that amount in any way? When you make your decision on who gets what from that amount we have there at the bottom? [R: 114].

The judge again explained the verdict form [R: 115-116].

At 5:53 the jury returned a verdict finding Aloysia Wood 14% at fault; Daniel Wood 85% at fault, and Walt Disney World Co. 1% at fault, and assessed Mrs. Wood's damages at \$75,000.00 [R: 165-166].

The trial court, without notice [R: 132], entered judgment against Walt Disney World Co. and INA for 86 percent of Mrs. Wood's damages [R: 162-164]. The

defendants moved to alter the judgment to reflect the jury's finding that Disney was only one percent at fault [R: 167-168]. The motion was denied [R: 169], and the Defendants appealed.

On April 9, 1986, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment against Disney and INA for 86% of Mrs. Wood's damages, but certified the following question to this Court:

Does the holding in <u>Lincenberg v. Issen</u> dictate an affirmance of the trial court's decision in this case?

On April 17, 1986, Disney and INA filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and on April 24, 1986, this Court entered an order requiring briefs on the merits.

CERTIFIED QUESTION

DOES THE HOLDING IN <u>LINCENBERG v. ISSEN</u> DICTATE AN AFFIRMANCE OF THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION IN THIS CASE?

ISSUE ON APPEAL

IN COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE CASES, SHOULD THE RULE OF "JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY" BE REPLACED WITH THE RULE THAT A DEFENDANT MAY BE ADJUDGED LIABLE ONLY FOR THOSE DAMAGES WHICH A JURY DETERMINES WERE CAUSED BY THE DEFENDANT'S FAULT?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The rule of "joint and several liability" which requires a defendant substantially less at fault than the plaintiff and other parties to pay damages in excess of those assessed by a jury ought to be abolished because it conflicts with the fundamental principle of tort law that one whose fault is only partially the cause of injury may not be made to bear the entire loss. The reasons for this common law rule have all evaporated and the rule should no longer be applied.

Thirteen states, the United Kingdom and the Canadian provinces have abandoned "joint and several liability" as outmoded and inconsistent with the principles of comparative fault.

The combination of pure comparative negligence and several liability is consistent with the principal goal of the tort system that a defendant should compensate a plaintiff for damages caused by the defendant's fault and permits full recovery of those damages even by a culpable plaintiff. Moreover, several liability avoids the arbitrary imposition of liability on one party for damages caused by another.

After the fundamental changes in the tort system announced in <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, there is no clear precedent from this Court on the continued vitality of the rule of "joint and several liability." The only two decisions to mention the rule both involved plaintiffs free from fault,

and each was decided on other issues. There is no act of the legislature incorporating "joint and several liability" for all tort actions into the statutory law of Florida. This Court has an essential role, which it should not abdicate, in considering this court-made rule.

Application of the rule of "joint and several liability," under modern law and practice, is unconstitutional
because it denies the right to have a jury determination of
fault and causation and because it arbitrarily discriminates
among parties at fault in determining the amount of loss
each will bear. No reasonable alternative has been provided
to replace the right to a jury determination of liability.

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE THE RULE OF JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABIL-ITY CONFLICTS WITH THE FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES OF NEGLIGENCE LAW IN THIS STATE, IT SHOULD BE ABOLISHED.

When the negligence of more than one person contributes to the occurrence of an accident, each should pay the proportion of the total damages he has caused...

The judgment in this case violates this fundamental principle of negligence law announced by the Supreme Court in <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So.2d 431, 437 (Fla. 1973). In spite of the fact that the jury found that Walt Disney World Co. caused \$750 in damages to the plaintiff, the judgment compels Disney to pay \$64,500 to Aloysia Wood. The judgment results from the rule that one of many tortfeasors whose acts concur in producing injury is liable for the entire damage. <u>Moore v. St. Cloud Util.</u>, 337 So.2d 982 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), cert., den., 337 So.2d 809 (Fla. 1976).

That rule is inequitable and unjust. It conflicts with the fundamental principles of negligence law enunciated in Hoffman v. Jones. Those principles and modern practice have eroded the foundation of the rule. The rule should now be abolished.

"In the field of tort law, the most equitable result that can ever be reached by a court is the equation of liability with fault." Hoffman, at 438.

The Supreme Court established comparative negligence to give life to this principle. The change was made because:

[T]oday it is almost universally regarded as unjust and inequitable to vest an entire accidental loss on one of the parties whose negligent conduct combined with the negligence of the other party to produce the loss. Id. at 436.

The Court approved comparative negligence because it allows "apportionment of the loss among those whose fault contributed to the occurrence." <u>Id</u>. That decision affirmed that the liability of the defendant should depend "upon what damages he caused." <u>Id</u>. at 439 (Emphasis in original).

In <u>Hoffman</u>, the Court declined to address all the issues raised by adoption of comparative negligence. Rather, the Court said that those issues could be resolved in the future by applying the principles governing comparative negligence which are:

- (1) To allow a jury to apportion fault as it sees fit between negligent parties whose negligence was part of the legal and proximate cause of any loss or injury; and
- (2) To apportion the total damages resulting from the loss or injury according to the proportionate fault of each party. <u>Id</u>. at 439.

The rule of "joint and several liability" conflicts with these principles. The judgment in this case violates the mandate of Hoffman that:

The Court's primary responsibility is to enter a judgment which reflects the true intent of the jury, as expressed in its verdict or verdicts. <u>Id</u>. at 439.

In Florida, the principle that each of several tort-feasors whose acts combine to produce a single injury is liable for the entire injury was apparently first applied in Louisville & N. Ry. Co. v. Allen, 67 Fla. 257, 65 So. 8 (1914), adopting the following statement:

"Where, although concert is lacking, the separate and independent acts of negligence of several combined to produce directly a single injury, each is responsible for the entire result, even though his act or neglect alone might not have caused it..." 65 So. at 12.

Thus, Florida joined those jurisdictions departing from the English common law rule that "joint tortfeasors" were those who acted in concert. See, Prosser, Law of Torts, §46 (4th ed. 1971).

While English common law developed a rule that concurrent, but independent, wrongdoers were each liable for the entire damage, each had to be sued separately and there was no requirement that the verdicts be in the same amount.

See, Prosser, supra, \$47.

The original basis of the "joint and several liability" rule was that a plaintiff had but one cause of action for a single injury, and causation of injury could not be apportioned among tortfeasors. See, Louisville & N. Ry. Co. v. Allen, supra, 65 So. at 12.

The application of the rule not only made one tortfeasor liable for the entire damage, but also prohibited contribution among tortfeasors, Seaboard Air Line Ry. Co. v. American Dist. Elec. Protective Co., 106 Fla. 330, 143 So. 316 (1932), and provided that the release of one tort-feasor, released all. Louisville & N. Ry. Co. v. Allen, supra.

Over the years, Florida has repudiated all the corollaries of "joint and several liability" but for the rule of entire liability. In 1975, the courts and legislature simultaneously eliminated the rule against contribution. Lincenberg v. Issen, 318 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1975). A release of one tortfeasor no longer releases all. Fla. Stat. \$768.041 and \$768.31(5). The time has come to eliminate the injustice of requiring a defendant to pay more than the damages a jury has determined he caused.

At the time the rule was developed in the early 1800's, a plaintiff could recover nothing if at fault to any degree. There was no mechanism for juries to apportion fault. Now, "contemporary conditions must be met with contemporary standards which are realistic and better calculated to obtain justice among all the parties involved...." Lincenberg, supra, at 388-389. (Emphasis in original).

This state, and other jurisdictions, have recognized the inequity of the "joint and several liability" rule and the conflict between the rule and the principles of comparative negligence. In <u>Lincenberg v. Issen</u>, 318 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1975), the Supreme Court agreed that:

In any full consideration of the degrees of liability of the parties involved in a single accident, it now seems essential to a complete disposition of the relative claims, that we remove the limitation imposed by the rule against the division of liability among joint tortfeasors.

* * * *

To continue without this completion of the change over to comparative negligence, is to allow what was a well-intended joint tortfeasor rule to be used unfairly as a tool to avoid complete justice. <u>Id</u>. at 391, citing with approval, <u>Ward v. Ochoa</u>, 284 So.2d 385, 388 (Fla. <u>1973</u>) (concurring opinion).

In <u>Lincenberg</u>, the Court, based on the principles of law and equity announced in Hoffman, concluded:

[I]t would be undesirable for this Court to retain a rule that under a system based on fault, casts the entire burden of a loss for which several may be responsible upon only one of those at fault.... Id. at 391.

At that time, the Supreme Court considered adopting a rule of apportionment whereby the plaintiff might recover judgment against a defendant only for the percentage of damages caused by that defendant. <u>Id</u>. at 392, n. 2. Because, however, the issue before the Court in <u>Lincenberg</u> was whether to allow contribution and the contribution statute had become effective while the case was pending, the Court deferred to the legislative enactment on the issue being considered and did not address the rule of "joint and several liability" itself. <u>Id</u>. at 392.

The Florida contribution statute recognizes the injustice of "joint and several liability." It provides that the

right of contribution exists in favor of one "who has paid more than his. . . share of the common liability." Fla. Stat. \$768.31(2)(b) (Emphasis added). If liability for the entire damage were just, then the entire damage would be a defendant's share, and he could never pay "more than his share."

Other jurisdictions which have adopted comparative negligence have abolished the rule of joint and several liability in negligence cases.

England, the source of our common law, has abandoned the rule of joint and several liability for concurrent tortfeasors, as have the Canadian provinces. Prosser, Comparative Negligence, 51 Mich. L. Rev. 465, 504 (1953).

The states of Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Mexico, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Texas and Vermont have abolished or modified the rule that multiple defendants are each liable for the entire recoverable damage. 1

¹Some commentators also include Pennsylvania and Minnesota among the jurisdictions limiting the rule of joint and several liability. See, Granelli, The Attack on Joint and Several Liability, 71 ABA Journal 61 (July, 1985).

Minnesota and North Dakota have adopted a rule that by settling with a tortfeasor a plaintiff "waives" joint and several liability between the settling tortfeasor and the remaining defendants for the settling tortfeasor's share of fault, but the remaining defendants continue to be jointly and severally liable for their percentage of fault. Hosley v. Armstrong Cork Co., 383 N.W.2d 289 (Minn. 1986); Hoerr v. Northfield Foundry & Mach. Co., 376 N.W.2d 323 (N.D. 1985).

In <u>Brown v. Keill</u>, 224 Kan. 195, 580 P.2d 867 (1978), the Kansas supreme court abolished the rule of "joint and several liability" in light of the adoption of a comparative negligence statute. In interpreting <u>Kan. Stat. Ann.</u> §60-258a, the court said:

The legislature intended to equate recovery and duty to pay to degree of fault. Of necessity, this involved a change of both the doctrine of contributory negligence and of joint and several liability. There is nothing inherently fair about a defendant who is 10% at fault paying 100% of the loss, and there is no social policy that should compel defendants to pay more than their fair share of the loss....

It appears more reasonable for the legislature to have intended to relate duty to pay to the degree of fault. Any other interpretation ... destroys the fundamental conceptual basis for the abandonment of the contributory negligence rule... 580 P.2d at 873-874.

The purpose and principles of the Kansas legislative intent in adopting comparative negligence are identical with those declared in <u>Hoffman</u>. To maintain the integrity of those principles the rule of "joint and several liability" should be abolished by Florida.

Kentucky required apportionment of damages among multiple defendants even before it adopted comparative negligence. Orr v. Coleman, 455 S.W.2d 59 (Ky. 1970); Daulton v. Reed, 538 S.W.2d 306 (Ky. 1976); D.D. Williamson & Co. v. Allied Chem. Corp., 569 S.W.2d 672 (Ky. 1978). Kentucky judicially adopted pure comparative negligence in

<u>Hilen v. Hays</u>, 673 S.W.2d 713 (Ky. 1984), partly because of its rule of several liability.

Statutes in Indiana, New Hampshire, Ohio and Vermont limit the judgment entered against a single defendant to that defendant's percentage of the plaintiff's damages.

Ind. Stat. Ann. §34-4-33-5; N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §507:7-a;

Ohio Rev. Code Ann. §2315.19(A); Vt. Stat. Ann., tit. 12, §1036.

In Louisiana, Nevada, Oregon and Texas a defendant's liability is limited to his percentage of negligence when his negligence is less than the plaintiff's. La. Stat. Ann., art. 2324; Nev. Rev. Stat. \$41.141; Ore. Rev. Stat. \$18.485; Tex. Civ. Stat. Ann., art. 2212a.

The Iowa legislature passed comprehensive comparative fault legislation in 1984. 1984 <u>Iowa Acts</u>, ch. 1293. The new statutes supplanted the Iowa supreme court decisions in <u>Goetzman v. Wichern</u>, 327 N.W.2d 742 (Iowa 1982) and <u>Rozevink v. Faris</u>, 342 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1983). The Iowa act provides:

In actions brought under this chapter, the rule of joint and several liability shall not apply to defendants who are found to bear less than fifty percent of the total fault assigned to all parties. Iowa Code, §668.4 (1985).

See, Beeler v. Van Cannon, 376 N.W.2d 628 (Iowa 1985).

In <u>Laubach v. Morgan</u>, 588 P.2d 1071 (Okla. 1978) the Oklahoma supreme court abrogated the rule of "joint and

several liability," even though the state's comparative negligence statute did not deal with the issue. The court acted because:

Absent specific legislation, this court must augment our statutory scheme to meet the intent and underlying principle of comparative negligence... <u>Id</u>. at 1074.

Joint liability was abrogated because:

Holding a defendant tortfeasor, who is only 20 percent at fault, liable for entire amount of damages is obviously inconsistent with the equitable principles of comparative negligence as enacted by the Legislature. We should allow a jury to apportion fault as it sees fit. Id. at 1075.

The opinion of the Oklahoma supreme court abandoning "joint and several liability" echoes the purpose for adopting comparative negligence in Florida: "To allow a jury to apportion fault as it sees fit..." <u>Hoffman</u>, 280 So.2d at 439; <u>Lincenberg</u>, 318 So.2d at 390.

New Mexico did not adopt comparative negligence until 1981. Drawing upon the large body of opinions, statutes and commentaries, particularly the opinions from Florida, the New Mexico supreme court judicially adopted comparative negligence in Scott v. Rizzo, 96 N.M. 682, 634 P.2d 1234 (1981). One year later, compelled by the principles of comparative fault, New Mexico abandoned the rule of joint and several liability in Bartlett v. New Mexico Welding Supply, Inc., 98 N.M. 152, 646 P.2d 579 (App.), cert. den., 98 N.M. 336, 648 P.2d 794 (1982).

In abolishing the rule of "joint and several liability," the New Mexico court was critical of decisions in
other comparative negligence states, notably Michigan,
California, and Alaska, retaining joint and several liability, and declared that the reasoning of such decisions:

departs from the concept on which pure comparative negligence is based -- that fairness is achieved by basing liability on a person's fault. 646 P.2d at 582.

The court in <u>Bartlett</u>, as the Oklahoma court in <u>Laubach</u>, was greatly persuaded by the opinion of the California court of appeal in <u>American Motorcycle Ass'n v. Superior Ct.</u>, 65 Cal.App.3d 694, 135 Cal.Rptr. 497 (1977), holding that adoption of pure comparative negligence required abandoning joint and several liability. The <u>Bartlett</u> court (like the dissent in <u>American Motorcycle Ass'n. v. Superior Ct.</u>, 20 Cal.3d 578, 146 Cal.Rptr. 182, 578 P.2d 899 (1978), in which the California supreme court reversed the abolition of joint and several liability) criticized the California supreme court for repudiating the principle that:

in a system based on fault, the "primal concept that *** the extent of fault should govern the extent of liability - remains irresistible to reason and all intelligent notions of fairness." Bartlett, 646 P.2d at 583, citing Li v. Yellow Cab Co., 13 Cal.3d 804, 119 Cal.Rptr. 858, 532 P.2d 1226 (1975).

The <u>Bartlett</u> court observed that the rule holding a concurrent tortfeasor liable for the entire loss had its genesis in the common law concept of the unity of a cause of

action and cannot be said to be based on any sound reason. 646 P.2d at 584. The court concluded:

Joint and several liability is not to be retained in our pure comparative negligence system on a theory of one indivisible wrong. The concept of one indivisible wrong, based on common law technicalities, is obsolete, and is not to be applied in comparative negligence cases in New Mexico. Id. at 585.

Dean Prosser himself asserted:

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