IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 68,647

WALT DISNEY WORLD CO. and INSURANCE COMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA,

Petitioners,

vs.

ALOYSIA WOOD,

Respondent.



JUN 16 1986

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ON REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT (ALOYSIA WOOD) ON MERITS

SHELDON J. SCHLESINGER, P.A.
1212 S.E. Third Avenue
Ft. Lauderdale, Fla. 33335
-andPODHURST, ORSECK, PARKS, JOSEFSBERG,
EATON, MEADOW & OLIN, P.A.
Suite 800, City National Bank Building
25 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800

Attorneys for Respondents

BY: JOEL D. EATON

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

This Court has also held that it is against public policy to require a plaintiff to sue every concurrent or successive tortfeasor who may be liable for the losses caused by them, and that defendants will not be allowed to bring third-party actions against such tortfeasors in certain circumstances—such as forcing a plaintiff to litigate a medical malpractice action which he has elected to forego. See Stuart v. Hertz Corp., 351 So.2d 703 (Fla. 1977).

If Disney World's position is adopted in this case, all of these decisions would also logically have to be overruled as well. A plaintiff would then be prevented from recovering any damages caused by a prior or successive tortfeasor if he could not apportion the damages between the two accidents. A plaintiff would also be required to litigate the liability of everyone involved, whether he wished to do so or not, and even when some of the tortfeasors were immune from suit or were unidentifiable "phantoms". These "ripple effects" of Disney World's position clearly counsel considerable additional caution here.

occurred except for its negligence), it should only be responsible for \$750.00 of those damages merely because its "joint tortfeasor" may be unable to contribute toward compensating the plaintiff for the damages caused by both. 7/ Once the problem is defined in its historical (and real) terms, rather than as Disney World has improperly redefined it, it is clearly a much more complex problem than the one Disney World has presented to this Court. And once the problem is viewed in its real terms, rather than as Disney World has redefined it, the perfectly logical reason for the long-settled doctrine becomes clear—and its application in any given case becomes much more palatable.

In the final analysis, of course, the question boils down to this: Who should bear the risk of loss which must inevitably occur where a joint tortfeasor is insolvent or immune from suit--the victim or the solvent tortfeasor? For a number of reasons, the over-whelming majority of courts which have considered the question after adoption of comparative negligence have refused to disturb the common law's long-settled answer that the risk of loss should fall on the tortfeasor rather than the victim. We consider the California Supreme Court's reasons representative:

First, the simple feasibility of apportioning fault on a comparative negligence basis does not render an indivisible injury "divisible" for purposes of the joint and several liability rule. As we have already explained, a concurrent tortfeasor is liable for the whole of an indivisible injury whenever his negligence is a proximate cause of that injury. In many instances, the negligence of each of several concurrent tortfeasors may be sufficient, in itself, to cause the entire injury; in other instances, it is simply impossible to determine whether or not a particular concurrent tortfeasor's negligence, acting alone, would have caused the same injury. Under such circumstances, a defendant has no equitable claim vis a vis an injured plaintiff to be relieved of liability for damage which he has proximately caused simply because some other tortfeasor's negligence may also

This is a particularly harsh result for the plaintiff in the instant case, because another doctrine of tort law—the interspousal immunity doctrine—prevents her from recovering a nickel from Disney World's "joint tortfeasor" for the single injury caused by both. Disney World, on the other hand, is not prevented by this doctrine from recovering contribution from Mr. Wood.

have caused this harm. In other words, the mere fact that it may be possible to assign some percentage figure to the relative culpability of one negligent defendant as compared to another does not in any way suggest that each defendant's negligence is not a proximate cause of the entire indivisible injury.

Second, abandonment of the joint and several liability rule is not warranted by [the defendant's] claim that, after [the adoption of comparative negligence], a plaintiff is no longer "innocent." Initially, of course, it is by no means invariably proved that after [the adoption of comparative negligence] injured plaintiffs would be guilty of negligence. In many instances a plaintiff will be completely free of all responsibility for the accident, and yet, under the proposed abolition of joint and several liability, such a completely faultless plaintiff, rather than a wrongdoing defendant, would be forced to bear a portion of the loss if any one of the concurrent tortfeasors should prove financially unable to satisfy his proportioned share of the damages.

Moreover, even when a plaintiff is partially at fault for his own injury, a plaintiff's culpability is not equivalent to that of a defendant. In this setting, a plaintiff's negligence relates only to a failure to use due care for his own protection, while a defendant's negligence relates to a lack of due care for the safety of others. Although we recognized [in our decision adopting comparative negligence] that a plaintiff's self-directed negligence would justify reducing his recovery in proportion to his degree of fault for the accident, the fact remains that insofar as the plaintiff's conduct creates only a risk of self-injury, such conduct, unlike that of a negligent defendant, is not tortious. . . .

Finally, from a realistic standpoint, we think that [the defendant's] suggested abandonment of the joint and several liability rule would work a serious and unwarranted deleterious affect on the practicability of negligently injured persons to receive adequate compensation for their injuries. One of the principle by-products of the joint and several liability rule is that it frequently permits an injured person to obtain full recovery for his injuries even when one or more of the responsible parties did not have the financial resources to cover their liability. In such a case the rule recognizes that fairness dictates that the "wronged party should not be deprived of his right to redress," but that "(t)he wrongdoers should be left to work out between themselves the apportionment."...

For all of the foregoing reasons, we reject [the defendant's] suggestion that our adoption of comparative negligence logically compels the abolition of joint and several liability of concurrent tortfeasors. Indeed, although [the defendant] fervently asserts that the joint and several liability concept is totally

incompatible with a comparative negligence regime, the simple truth is that the overwhelming majority of jurisdictions which have adopted comparative negligence have retained the joint and several liability doctrine...

American Motorcycle Ass'n. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County, supra, 146 Cal. Rptr. at 188-89.

It is true, of course, as Disney World and its amici have pointed out, that a handful of states have reached a contrary conclusion. However, most of the changes have been wrought through legislative response to pressure from special interest groups, who have succeeded in misleading legislators (in need of campaign contributions) into believing that the doctrine requires a defendant to pay more than the damages he has caused, as Disney World has attempted to convince this Court here. Very few courts have been misled in this fashion, however, and the overwhelming majority of courts (including Florida's) which have considered abolition of the doctrine upon a proper conceptual foundation have remained faithful to the settled wisdom of the common law. We respectfully submit that the historical, majority rule is the better rule. 8/

We think two more brief pragmatic observations are in order. This is, of course, a "hard case"--because Disney World's contribution to Mrs. Wood's injury was slight, and less than Mrs. Wood's contribution. It is equally true, however, that hard cases make bad law. And abolition of the doctrine of "joint and several liability" in this hard case will clearly make bad law in numerous other cases in which the doctrine is far more defensible. For example, consider the case in which a solvent defendant is found 10% at fault, an insolvent defendant is found 90% at fault, and the plaintiff is found blameless for a

^{8/} Many of the numerous recent judicial decisions which have rejected Disney World's position are collected in American Motorcycle Ass'n, supra, and in a thought-provoking student note in a recent edition of the University of Florida Law Review: Note, The Modification of Joint and Several Liability: Consideration of the Uniform Comparative Fault Act, 36 Fla. L. Rev. 288 (1984). Rather than collect all those decisions here, the Court is simply referred to these sources.

single crippling injury which prevents him from supporting himself and his family. If Disney World's position is adopted here, the solvent defendant will pay 10% of the plaintiff's damages, and the plaintiff will suffer 90% of his life-threatening loss without compensation--notwithstanding that the solvent defendant's negligent conduct (without which there would have been no injury) caused 100% of the plaintiff's damages.

That case and this case are polar extremes, of course, and there are numerous cases in between, which we will not belabor. The point is simply this: No matter how compelling the facts in this case may be for relieving Disney World of its long-settled responsibility under the doctrine of "joint and several liability", there are equally compelling cases in which abolition of the doctrine would offend the consciences of most right-thinking persons. And all of those cases must be considered in deciding the complex issue presented here, not merely this one.

We also think it is of no moment here that the plaintiff was found 14% at fault and Disney World was found 1% at fault. As long as the law of Florida recognizes "pure" comparative negligence (rather than a modified form of comparative negligence in which the defendant's fault must be greater than the plaintiff's before the plaintiff can recover), the plaintiff is entitled to recover a portion of her damages even if her fault is greater than that of the defendant. The defendant receives the benefit of the plaintiff's fault in another way--by "contribution" from the plaintiff in the form of a percentage reduction of the total damages for which it would otherwise be liable.

We also remind the Court that there is always an injured victim in cases like this one, and frequently the victim is so badly injured that he can neither afford his medical bills nor support himself and his family. He is therefore typically in a very poor position to bear the loss associated with a triangle in which one joint tortfeasor is insolvent or immune from suit. He is certainly in a much poorer position than the solvent tortfeasor to bear that loss. That disparity in positions is exacerbated by the fact that plaintiffs

generally cannot purchase insurance coverage comparable to the liability insurance coverage available to defendants, to cover all their losses in the event one of several joint tortfeasors is financially irresponsible. 9/ That is especially true in the instant case, where the solvent tortfeasor is a multi-million dollar industry which can absorb the cost of Mrs. Wood's injuries by tacking a few pennies onto a half-day's worth of ticket sales—which brings us to our final pragmatic observation.

Our final pragmatic observation is this: Whatever the outcome of the issue before the Court, the public will ultimately pay the loss in cases like this one. If the doctrine of "joint and several liability" is abolished, an injured plaintiff who cannot pay his medical bills or support his family—and who is not compensated adequately to do so because one of the tortfeasors who has caused his injury is insolvent or immune from suit—will ultimately become a ward of the public, cared for and supported by tax monies from the public's pockets. If the doctrine of "joint and several liability" is not abolished, then the public will also pay for the loss. The public will pay because the cost of the solvent defendant's insurance coverage (or self-insurance) is passed on to its customers in the price of the product or services it sells—and each consumer will therefore pay a fraction of a cent of the plaintiff's loss. (Indeed, because insurance rates are generally based upon industry—wide experience, the customers of the entire industry, not merely the customers of the tortfeasor, will pay for the loss.)

If the public must ultimately pay in either event, it seems far more sensible to us that the plaintiff's compensation should come from that portion of the public supporting

One exception to this general rule comes to mind--the availability of uninsured motorists coverage for automobile accidents--although even that exception is sometimes unavailable because of the perverse way in which some courts have read the statute mandating availability of that coverage. See, e.g., Craft v. Government Employees Insurance Co., 432 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 2nd DCA), review denied, 440 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1983) (where compromise settlement with solvent joint tortfeasor exceeds UM coverage available for other uninsured joint tortfeasor, no coverage is available for uninsured joint tortfeasor's share of plaintiff's total damages). That exception is not relevant here, however.

the tortfeasor's enterprise, rather than the general public at large (many of whom may have elected not to contribute to the tortfeasor's enterprise precisely because of the injuries it is causing to others). Simply put, the enterprise which negligently causes an injury should pay its own way—not the victim of the enterprise or the public at large. It is for that far more general social policy reason that we suspect the doctrine of "joint and several liability" has survived to this day—notwithstanding the advent of comparative negligence—and it is for that reason, among the others which we have briefly advanced here, that the doctrine should survive this singularly "hard case". A doctrine which has survived nearly a century of judicial scrutiny is not always right—but it is seldom wrong. At the very least, the reasons for its extended survival deserve careful consideration and respect before it is carelessly cast aside, at the vocal insistence of a well-heeled profit—motivated minority, by a mere panel of successor judges asked to reconsider its accepted wisdom for the umpteenth time. See Raisen v. Raisen, 379 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1979).

4. The "constitutionality" of the doctrine is not properly before the Court, nor is the doctrine "unconstitutional".

Disney World's attacks upon the constitutionality of the doctrine of "joint and several liability" were never raised in the trial court in any manner, shape, or form. They therefore cannot properly be considered here. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1970); Smith v. Ervin, 64 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1953); Henderson v. Antonacci, 62 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1952). See Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985); Dober v. Worrell, 401 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 1981); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978); Bould v. Touchette, 349 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1977).

And because the arguments simply cannot be considered here, we will spare the Court a lengthy response to them. Suffice it to say simply that the arguments are built solely upon the fundamental misunderstanding of the concept of "joint and several liabil-

ity" which we have previously explained. Once it is understood that Disney World has been ordered to pay no more than the damages it caused (subject to its right to contribution from the plaintiff through the doctrine of comparative negligence and its right to contribution from its "joint tortfeasor"), the predicate for Disney World's challenges to the constitutionality of the doctrine simply evaporates. What remains is a perfectly rational legal basis for the doctrine, simply that Disney World should pay for the damages it caused whether its concurrent tortfeasor is able to contribute or not—which is why the doctrine has never been declared unconstitutional by any court in the century or so of its existence. Because we are confident that this Court will not be the first to take such an indefensible step (especially in a case where the issue was not preserved for review), we will simply pass on the unpreserved constitutional arguments, and leave them in this Court's capable hands.

5. Abolition of the doctrine is more appropriately a matter for the legislature, which has recently acted in a way which precludes retroactive abolition of the doctrine by this Court.

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